The effect of site and cambial age on selected anatomical properties of mid-rotation *Pinus radiata*

By Daniel Gebeyehu Wondifraw

Thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree Master of Science in Forestry (Wood Product Science) at the Faculty of AgriSciences, Stellenbosch University



Supervisor: Dr. Martina Meincken Co-supervisor: Prof. Thomas Seifert Faculty of AgriSciences Department of Forest and Wood Science

March, 2012

Declaration

By submitting this thesis electronically, I declare that the entirety of the work contained therein is my own, original work, that I am the sole author thereof (save to the extent explicitly otherwise stated), that reproduction and publication thereof by Stellenbosch University will not infringe any third party rights and that I have not previously in its entirety or in part submitted it for obtaining any qualification.

March 2012

Copyright © 2012 University of Stellenbosch All rights reserved

Abstract

The aim of this project was to determine the site effect- especially water availability and the effect of cambial age on selected anatomical properties of *Pinus radiata,* in order to be able to predict possible changes in wood quality due to an expected change in climate. A second objective was to correlate ring and fibre properties, in order to determine, if ring properties could be used as a proxy to describe wood quality. The samples consisted of 12 trees, sampled at an age of 1 to 16 from six selected sites in the Western Cape, which ranged from water stressed to moist. Apart from the water availability all other external factors, such as elevation etc. were kept as equal as possible.

Anatomical wood properties such as fibre length and fibre diameter, lumen diameter, cell wall thickness, ring width and earlywood/latewood ratio were determined and their change with cambial age and water availability was evaluated. Fibre length, fibre diameter and cell wall thickness increased with increasing cambial age, and ring width and earlywood/latewood ratio decreased with increasing cambial age. No significant correlations were found between any of the ring or fibre properties and water availability. Most of the fibre properties were significantly correlated with ring width and earlywood/latewood ratio when age was not considered as covariate, but showed no correlation when the age effect was excluded.

Opsomming

Die doel van die projek was om die perseel se effek te bepaal, veral water beskikbaarheid, ten opsigte van die effek van kambium ouderdom en geselekteerde anatomiese eienskappe van *Pinus radiata*, om sodoende die moontike verandering in hout kwaliteit as gevolg van verwagte klimaatsverandering te voorspel. 'n Tweede doelwit was om die ring en vesel eienskappe te korreleer en ook te bepaal of ring eienskappe gebruik kan word om hout kwaliteit te beskryf. Die monsters het bestaan uit bome van ses geselekteerde persele in die Wes Kaap en het gevarieer van 'n water tekort na klam. Behalwe vir water beskikbaarheid is al die ander eksterne faktore, soos hoogte ens., konstant gehou waar moontlik.

Anatomiese hout eienskappe soos vesel lengte en deursnee, sel deursnee, selwand dikte, ring wydte en E/L verhouding was bepaal asook die verandering met kambium ouderdom en water beskikbaarheid. Vesel lengte , vesel deursnee en selwand dikte het toegeneem met toename in kambium ouderdom, en ring wydte en E/L verhouding het afgeneem met toename in kambium ouderdom. Toename in water beskikbaarheid het gelei to afname in vesel lengte en selwand dikte, waar vesel deursnee, sel deursnee, E/L verhouding en ring wydte toegeneem het. Meeste van die vesel eienskappe het betekenisvol gekorrelleer met ring wydte en E/L verhouding wanneer ouderdom nie as ko-variant gebruik is nie.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A special word of thanks to the following people and organization:

- -Martina Meincken and Thomas Seifert for supervising my studies;
- -Rural capacity building project (RCBP) for sponsoring my studies;
- -To all forestry and wood science staff and students;
- My parents for their love and support during my studies;
- Philip Fischer for the data collection and his continued help in this project;

Table of Contents

Abstract	I
Opsomming	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	III
LIST OF TABLES	VI
LIST OF FIGURES	VII
LIST OF SYMBOLS	VIII
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Objectives	4
2. Background	5
2.1 Wood	5
2.1.1 The macroscopic structure of pine wood	5
2.1.2 The microscopic structure of softwood	6
2.2 Relationship between wood properties and mechanical strength	7
2.3 The effect of silivicultural practice on wood properties	9
2.3.1 Effect of stand density on wood properties	9
2.3.2 Effect of fertilization on wood properties	
2.3.3 Effect of growth period and rate on wood properties	11
3. Materials and Methods	
3.1 Site selection and description	
3.2 Sample selection	
3.3 Determination of ring width and early/latewood ratio	17
3.4 Sample preparation for fibre analysis	
3.5 Determination of fibre length	
3.6 Determination of cell wall thickness, cell and lumen diameter	20
3.7 Statistical Analysis	21
4. Results and Discussion	24
4.1 General description of ring width and fibre properties	24
4.2 Fibre and ring properties as a function of cambial age	24
4.2.1 Site D3	25
4.2.2 Site D10	27
4.2.3 Site E18	

4.2.4 Site F	14	30
4.2.5 Site G	519	
4.2.6 Site G	636	33
4.3 Fibre an	d ring properties as a function of water availability	
4.4 Correlati	on of ring and fibre properties	40
5. Conclusion	and Outlook	44
6. References.		46

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Effect of an increase of external factors on fibre and wood properties 12
Table 2: Stand characteristics of the selected trial sites
Table 3: Selected functions for detrending of tree ring and fibre properties
Table 4: The minimum, maximum and the mean of all ring width and fibre properties24
Table 5: Change of fibre properties with increasing cambial age. \uparrow : increase with age, \downarrow :
decrease with age, \rightarrow : no change, $\uparrow\downarrow$: inconsistent pattern
Table 6: Correlation of fibre properties with water availability with a significance level of
p<0.05
Table 7: Pearson's correlation between ring and fibre properties. Significant correlations are
highlighted41
Table 8: Partial correlation between ring and fibre properties. Significant correlations are
highlighted43
Table 9: Climate data of site D3 and D1054
Table 10: Climate data of site E1854
Table 11: Climate data of site F14 and G1955
Table 12: Climate data of site G36 55
Table 13: Soil characteristics of site D3
Table 14: Soil characteristics of site D10 56
Table 15: Soil characteristics of site E18
Table 16: Soil characteristics of site F1458
Table 17: Soil characteristics of site G19 58
Table 19: Soil observatoriation of site C26

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Softwood cell structure (Rost et al. 1979)	7
Figure 2: Plantation locations	14
Figure 3: a) sanding of disks, b) sanded disk	17
Figure 4: Measurement of early and late wood width	17
Figure 5: Sample preparation for fibre analysis	18
Figure 6: a) fibres in Jeffrey's solution, b) washed fibres in distilled water, c) fibres prepar	ed
for analysis on a microscop slide	19
Figure 7: Measurement of fibre length	20
Figure 8: Measurement of cell wall thickness, cell and lumen diameter.	21
Figure 9: a) averaged cell wall thickness of latewood, b) detrended cell wall thickness of	
latewood	22
Figure 10: Possible correlation types between wood properties and ETa/ETp	23
Figure 11: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickn	ess,
d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtaine	ed
from site D3. Dashed lines are for easier visibility.	26
Figure 12: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickn	ess,
d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtaine	ed .
from site D10. Dashed lines are for easier visibility	28
Figure 13: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickn	ess,
d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtaine	d
from site E18. Dashed lines are for easier visibility.	29
Figure 14: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickn	ess,
d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtaine	ed .
from site F14. Dashed lines are for easier visibility.	31
Figure 15: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickn	ess,
d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtained	ed .
from site G19. Dashed lines are for easier visibility	32
Figure 16: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickn	ess,
d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtaine	:d
trom site G36. Dashed lines are for easier visibility	34
Figure 17: Correlation of ring width and ETa/ETp	37
Figure 18: Correlation of cell wall thickness (latewood) and ETa/ETp.	38

LIST OF SYMBOLS

CWT-EW: Cell wall thickness of earlywood

CWT-LW: Cell wall thickness of latewood

DBH: Diameter at breast height (1.3 m)

ETa: Actual Evapotranspiration

ETp: Potential evapotranspiration

ETa/ETp: Supply/demand ratio

Ew/Lw: Earlywood/Latewood ratio

FD-EW: Fibre diameter of earlywood

FD-LW: Fibre diameter of latewood

FL-EW: Fibre length of earlywood

GPa: Giga Pascal

Ha: Hectare

LD-EW: Lumen diameter of earlywood

LD-LW: Lumen diameter of latewood

MAP: Mean annual precipitation

MAT: Mean annual temperature

MFA: Microfibril angle

MOE: Modulus of elasticity

MOR: Modulus of rupture

MTO: Mountain to Ocean Forestry

RW: Ring width

1. INTRODUCTION

Pinus radiata is also known as the Monterey, Insignis or Radiata pine and is native to California. It is the most widely planted pine species in the world and valued for its rapid growth and good lumber and pulp qualities. In Australia, New Zealand, and Spain it is the leading introduced tree species and in Argentina, Chile, Uruguay, Kenya, and South Africa it is a major plantation species. As pinewood is the primary raw material for the sawmilling, particleboard and plywood industries (Pinto 1998), so knowledge of its properties is a prerequisite for its proper utilization. Pine Wood properties are affected by various factors, such as site quality (soil quality, temperature, light, and water availability), silvicultural practices, geographic location (Guilley et al. 2003), and stand density, which are some of the external factors that affect wood and fibre properties and thus wood quality. Watt et al. (2008), for example, found variations in fibre length for different site qualities. This concurs with Lindström's (1997) report that site quality strongly affects fibre development. Watt et al. (2009) found that various P. radiata stand structural variables (tree height, root collar diameter, stem slenderness, green crown width and relative green crown height) showed significant variation between sites. Stem slenderness (tree height/ground-line tree diameter) showed a negative relationship with site fertility. Soil nitrogen has a strong influence on the tree nitrogen content, which means that trees on fertile soils have a lower density than trees growing on unfertile soil under similar climatic conditions (Beets et al. 2001). Wright (1988) studied the density and within sample variation for two pine species (P. oocarpa and P. patula ssp. tecunumanii) from different provenances at six sites (in six countries) and found significant differences between sites. The modulus of elasticity (MOE) was significantly influenced by site quality and Watt et al. (2009) found a threefold increase (1.58 to 5.26 GPa) in MOE in six year old P. radiata across 30 sites in New Zealand. They concluded that sites with low temperature, high soil fertility, and low competition for light tend to produce low stem slenderness and low MOE wood. Oppositely, sites with high temperature, low fertility and high competition for light produced trees with high stem slenderness and high MOE.

The availability of soil water also affects the growth rate and formation of wood, over long time periods and within a season. For example, the relationship between summer rainfall and wood density in *P. radiata* was examined in a study of juvenile wood from a range of sites in Victoria (Australia) by Nicholls and Brown (1976). They found that average density was less in the region with the highest summer rainfall and they attributed this to a lower proportion of latewood and an increased growth rate. Wright (1970) compared the outer wood of 16 year old P. radiata trees and found that wood of lower density was produced on better sites. He established a correlation coefficient of -0.77 between basic density and mean annual volume increment. Wright considered this effect to be due to the higher moisture availability on the better sites. Larson (1964) recorded that drought encourages the formation of narrow-diameter thin-walled tracheids and therefore less dense wood. Polge and Keller (1968) also indicated that in *Pinus sylvestris* irrigation increased the amount of earlywood at the expense of latewood. Downes et al. (2002) mentioned that on sites experiencing drought in spring but good growth conditions in summer or autumn more latewood than earlywood was produced, therefore reversing the relationship between growth rate and density into a positive correlation.

Similar to site, age has strong effect on the various wood properties of *Pinus radiata* tree, for instance wood property variation in six *Pinus radiata* (D.Don) trees grown in the Jonkershoek state forest were studied by Malan (1989). The sources of variation, their relative contribution to the total and random variation, and the general pattern of variation were investigated for total ring width, latewood width, latewood percentage, basic density and fibre length. The results indicated that all wood properties showed significant variation with the ring number. Ring width decreased linearly with increasing ring number, while latewood width increased rapidly in the first 11 rings followed by a rapid decrease further outwards. Tracheid length, latewood percentage and basic density also showed an increase with increasing ring number. Bowyer *et al.* (2003) and Walker (1993) reported that cell wall thickness, fibre diameter, proportion of late wood and fibre length increased with age while ring width decreased with age.

Zobel and Sprague (1998) indicated that there is usually an inherent increase in latewood proportion with cambial age. With increasing age and stand closure, crowns of trees gradually recede upwards, resulting in tree rings with a higher

proportion of latewood. Lindström's (1997) research on Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) showed that age has strong effect on the different fibre properties: tracheid length and diameter increased with age, and latewood percentage increased with decreasing growth ring width.

The expected worldwide climate change will also affect South Africa. Various simulation programs predict a significant warming and the mean annual temperature (MAT) are expected to rise between 1 and 3°C (van Jaarsveld and Chown 2001). With regards to the precipitation, the forecasts are not that clear. Most simulations predict a decrease of the mean annual precipitation (MAP) for most of the country and mostly in winter, but others predict a slight increase in MAP (Turpie *et al.* 2002).

For the Western Cape the expected climate will be warmer and drier and indeed, over the last three decades a warming was already recorded (Midgley *et al.* 2005). The simulations predict a drying from west to east, which will be caused by a weakening of winter rainfalls. The summer rainfalls will possibly increase slightly (Midgley *et al.* 2005). Generally the winter rainfall season will be shorter (DEA and DP 2007).

The increase in MAT will be most significant in spring and summer months and this effect will be more pronounced in the inland areas (Midgley *et al.* 2005, DEA and DP 2007). The wind velocity is expected to rise in all seasons and this will be most notable in coastal regions (DEA and DP 2007).

The aim of this project was to predict the effects that this climate change can be expected to have on the properties of *P. radiata*, especially with regards to the water availability.

1.1 Objectives

The main aim of this project was to determine the site effect- especially water availability, and cambial age on selected anatomical properties of *Pinus radiata* in the Western Cape, South Africa, in order to be able to predict possible changes in wood quality that can be expected with the predicted climate change. The fibre length, fibre diameter and the cell wall thickness, as well as the ring width and earlywood/latewood ratio of trees from six different sites were determined.

A second aim was to correlate macroscopic ring and microscopic fibre properties, in order to determine if the more accessible ring properties could be used to describe wood quality.

The project tried to answer the following questions:

- How are tree ring and fibre properties affected by the site specific water availability?
- How are tree ring and fibre properties affected by cambial age?
- How are ring properties and fibre properties correlated with each other?

2. Background

2.1 Wood

Generally wood is separated into two types: hardwoods and softwoods (gymnosperms), which are mostly evergreen conifers. *Pinus radiata* belongs to the gymnosperms. Gymnosperms have a comparatively simple cell structure and are more uniform in appearance than hardwoods. Winandy and Rowell (2005) defined wood as a series of cemented tubular fibres or cells with the main function of transporting water and nutrients, store nutrients and give support to the growing biomass of the tree in the prevailing conditions (Dejardin *et al.* 2010, Biermann 1996). The formation of new wood takes place in three growth related developmental stages: (1) cell division from the vascular cambium, (2) cell expansion (elongation and radial enlargement), (3) secondary cell wall deposition, the next two stages transform functional cells into dead inactive tissue and comprise of (4) cell death and (5) heart wood formation (Dejardin *et al.* 2010, Plomion *et al.* 2001).

Chemical, anatomical and physical variations in the cell structure result in variations in wood properties within and between trees (Dinwoodie 1971). These wood properties also depend on genetic variation, growth conditions and environment (Biermann 1996). Within tree differences are mostly between juvenile, heart and sapwood, variation within annual rings and between reaction and normal wood (Diwoondie 1971). Thus it is important to take into account possible effects and interactions of these variables if anatomical properties are analysed.

2.1.1 The macroscopic structure of pine wood

During radial growth new wood is produced in a thin zone of cells just beneath the bark (Bowyer *et al.* 2003, Walker 1993), known as the vascular cambium. The cambium is essential for the continued growth of the tree. As the crown of the tree gets larger with more leaves and branches, the sapwood area must be increased and the stem must increase in diameter to support this extra load. More wood is added by the cambium to the trunk and the stem thickens. The cyclic production of new wood cells each spring and summer, and the subsequent cessation of cambial

division in climates with a dormant period, result in the familiar pattern of growth rings.

In temperate climates typically one growth ring is produced each year, but in tropical areas the trees grow a new ring with each rainy period so that there may be two or more apparent annual rings in a single growing season (Bowyer et al. 2003). False rings typically occur when the normal growing season is interrupted by drought, frost or defoliation, resulting in a ring of apparent latewood. When the conditions improve, trees can once again produce earlywood and complete the annual growth normally with another latewood production in autumn (Bowyer et al. 2003). Growth rings are generally more distinct on sites with clear distinction between growth periods and dormant periods. In the early growing season the vascular cambium produces earlywood: tracheid or fibres with large lumen diameters and thin cell walls (Walker 1993). The main function of these cells is the conduction of water rather than biomechanical support. Towards the end of the growing season the cambium produces latewood: these are fibres or tracheids with smaller lumen diameter and thicker cell walls, with the primary function of mechanical support. In the case of P. radiata the transition from earlywood to latewood is gradual (Bamber and Burley 1983). Species and growth conditions also affect the appearance of growth rings. For example, wood with short growth periods from dry areas, produces thinner rings than wood growing in good growth conditions (Winandy 1994). Winandy also reported that the width of growth rings is affected by the availability of sunlight. Trees growing under shade produce thinner growth rings than trees growing in open areas.

2.1.2 The microscopic structure of softwood

P. radiata, as a conifer, consists primarily of longitudinally elongated, pointed cells called tracheids (Figure 1). Their length varies with position in the stem. Generally, in mature wood the tracheid length ranges from 2 to 5 mm and the diameter from 15 to 60 μ m, which means they are about 100 times longer than wide (Walker 1993, Winandy 1994). The tangential diameter of the tracheids remains fairly uniform throughout the year rings. The radial diameter is larger in earlywood than in latewood where the cells appear flattened (Walker 1993). The tracheids overlap on their wedge-shaped ends. This cell arrangement gives softwoods their high strength along the grain, as well as allowing for maximum side wall cell contact for the movement of

water. Edlin (1965) indicated that *P. radiata* earlywood and latewood tracheids differ with respect to length, radial diameter, and cell wall thickness. He observed that earlywood tracheids are usually shorter than latewood tracheids. Nicholls and Dadswell (1965) found that the tracheid length across a growth ring in *P. radiata* ranges from 2.6 mm in the first formed earlywood to about 3.2 mm in the latewood. The radial diameter of the first formed earlywood tracheids was about 0.045 mm and that of the last formed tracheids in the latewood about 0.013 mm, whereas the tangential dimensions were similar around 0.04 mm. Because of genetic variations, climate and growth differences and other external influences, wood fibres can exhibit very diverse properties. This idea was supported by Miller (1999) who examined different fibre properties and showed that, the fibre length varied within a tree and between species, due to the above mentioned variables. Shorter fibres are produced in the early growing period (spring) where vegetative growth accelerating conditions (temperature and sunlight) are conductive (Dejardin *et al.* 2010).



Figure 1: Softwood cell structure (Rost *et al.* 1979)

2.2 Relationship between wood properties and mechanical strength

The two properties mostly used to describe the mechanical properties of wood are the modulus of elasticity (MOE) and modulus of rupture (MOR). These properties greatly affect the performance and strength of wood, especially for structural applications. The MOE describes the elastic/bending behaviour of wood and is considered more important than the MOR, which measures strength, as an indicator for wood quality (Waghorn *et al.* 2007, Watt *et al.* 2009). MOE showed an increase with increasing growth ring number (Lasserre *et al.* 2009), which indicates the influence of tree age on this MOE. The authors also reported that MOE was significantly correlated to MFA, fibre length, cell wall thickness and ring width, but they found no correlation to the wood density in *Cupressus lustanica* and *P. radiata*. Similarly, Roth *et al.* (2007) observed that harvested logs with a lower proportion of juvenile wood exhibited a low MOE. Mature wood has fibres with thick cell walls, lower MFAs and higher density (Dejardin *et al.* 2010). The strength of wood is linearly related to the density (Tsoumis 1991).

Differences in density derive from anatomical differences, such as cell types (fibres, vessels, parenchyma cells) and their quantitative distribution, cell wall thickness and lumen diameter (Tsoumis 1991, Bowyer et al. 2003, Walker 1993). The faster a tree is growing the larger the earlywood bands per annual ring will be and thus the density will be lower (Tsoumis 1991). In some species the lowest density coincides with the zone of juvenile wood, which has few latewood cells and a high proportion of thin walled cells. In trees that have grown fast over a short rotation period, the juvenile core occupies a large proportion of the stem and such trees tend to have a low density. The influence of ring width on density is different in softwood and hardwoods. In softwoods, the statistical correlation between ring width and density is low, but density tends to decrease with increasing ring width (Tsoumis 1991), whereas in ring porous hardwoods density increases up to a certain level, with increasing ring width and in diffuse-porous hardwoods ring width is not clearly correlated with density (Tsoumis 1991, Bowyer et al. 2003). Koga and Zhang (2002) reported on the relationship between wood density and annual growth rate components in balsam fir (Abies balsamea) and found that wood density was not significantly correlated with ring width in either juvenile or mature wood. Generally in softwoods the density decreases with height in the tree and increases with distance from the pith (Bowyer et al. 2003). Density is directly related to the percentage of latewood in a growth ring. Generally a large difference in density exists between earlywood and latewood, for example in southern pine the specific gravity of the earlywood is less than one half that of latewood (0.28 versus 0.7) and for this reason wider latewood zones are indicative for higher density. Experiments performed on Norway spruce by Lindström (1996) indicated that the density depended on the latewood percentage and early wood radial tracheid diameter.

2.3 The effect of silivicultural practice on wood properties

Bowyer *et al.* (2003) defined silviculture as the practice of tending and cultivating forest trees. In forest plantations, different silvicultural practices, including fertilization, thinning, spacing and pruning are applied in order to maximize the amount of harvestable wood. Several studies (Wimmer 2002, Bowyer *et al.* 2003, Lundgren 2004, Saren 2006, Cao *et al.* 2008, Jyske 2008, Lindström 1997) indicated that accelerated growth rates of trees due to various silvicultural practices resulted in lower quality wood products, because fast growth encourages trees to produce a high proportion of juvenile wood. At the same time, as the growth rate is increased the proportion of latewood becomes lower compared to the earlywood proportion (Miller 1999).

2.3.1 Effect of stand density on wood properties

The amount of space in which a tree grows is an extremely important determinant of growth rate and thus of wood properties. The spacing between trees and the extent of surrounding vegetation define the degree of competition for such critical growth elements as nutrients, water, and sunlight. Wider spacing between trees decreases the competition for nutrients, moisture and light and increases their growth rate. The growth rate, however, has a great influence on wood properties. Tsoumis (1991) reported that trees grown with wide spacing produce wider growth rings, which indirectly decreases the density, because wider rings contain more earlywood. On the other hand, as the stand density increases, competition for light occurs causing crown recession and delayed crown development, which could cause a growth rate reduction (Lindström 1997) and a lower production of juvenile wood. Zhu *et al.* (2006) reported that as the population density increases, the ring widths of the trees decrease.

The MOE is also highly affected by the initial spacing in the plantation (Bowyer *et al.* 2003). Wider spacing encourages early diameter growth with large crowns, which favours the formation of large diameter knots (Lasserre *et al.* 2005, Waghorn *et al.* 2007, Watt *et al.* 2009). Knots interrupt the fibre grain and reduce its flexibility and therefore the MOE. Waghorn *et al.* (2007) reported that the MOE increased linearly with the stand density in *P. radiata*. Their results showed an increase of MOE from

5.4 GPa to 7.2 GPa as the stand density increased from 209 stems ha⁻¹ to 835 stems ha⁻¹. They also found that the increase in MOE slowed when more trees were added (7.5 GPa for 2551 stems ha⁻¹).

2.3.2 Effect of fertilization on wood properties

Additional nutrients and optimum soil moisture through supplementary irrigation accelerate the growth rate of trees (Bowyer et al. 2003, Guilley et al. 2003). In most cases the application of nutrients and water is directly focused on harvesting a larger volume of biomass with reduced rotation periods (Bowyer et al. 2003, Wimmer et al. 2002). Bowyer et al. (2003) pointed out that if wood properties are studied, the application of fertilizer and irrigation might have both negative and positive impacts. In a density study of nitrogen fertilised P. radiata, Beets et al. (2001) found that earlywood and latewood densities were significantly affected throughout the tree. They noted a significant reduction in latewood formation compared to unfertilized P. radiata, especially at a younger age, below 15 years. Bowyer et al. (2003) reported that growth accelerating treatments, such as fertilization and irrigation, affect the average fibre length differently in softwoods and hardwoods. They reported a reduction in fibre length in softwoods but an increase in fibre length in hardwoods. Watt et al. (2008), on the other hand, reported that fertilization had an insignificant influence on MOE in *P. radiata*. In a density study of phosphate fertilized *P. radiata* in Australia by Rudman and McKinnell (1970) indicated that the density dropped after fertilization; in these studies decreases of nearly 20% were recorded in plantations treated with phosphatic fertilizers. Experiments performed in New Zealand by Cown (1977) on *P. radiata* showed that fertilizers reduce the wood density by 10% when compared to unfertilized site. Cown indicated that this reduction is due to a decrease in the proportion of latewood in the ring. Bisset et al. (1951) also found that tracheid length was about 33% shorter in *P. radiata* fertilized with phosphates. Posey (1964) presented a comprehensive study on the effect of fertilization on wood properties of 12 and 16 years *Pinus taeda* growing in Northern Carolina. He found that fertilizer application increased ring width, decreased specific gravity, latewood percentage, tracheid length and cell wall thickness.

2.3.3 Effect of growth period and rate on wood properties

The microfibril angle (MFA) is affected by the duration of the growth period and growth rate. Longer growth periods and higher growth rates result in higher MFA values (Wimmer *et al.* 2002). Saren (2006) reported that the increased growth may cause intrusive growth where the tips of cells may curl more than in slow growing trees, resulting in a larger MFA. A higher MFA was observed during the early growth period than during the later period (Wimmer *et al.* 2002, Saren 2006).

The faster growth rate due to the use of improved genetic material and adjustment of silvicultural practices to the prevailing environmental conditions was found to result in the reduction of rotation length but at the same time it increased the proportion of juvenile wood and decreased the quality of wood (Watt *et al.* 2009). These findings were supported by Saren (2006) who found that fast growing trees produce shorter cells with thinner cell walls that tend to be round in their cross-sections. Jyske (2008) reported that wood density, fibre length and cell wall thickness decreased on average by 2-7%, 0-9% and 1-17%, respectively in Norway spruce due to fast growth rate.

Rotation age also affects the average fibre length in a tree (Bowyer *et al.* 2003). In shorter rotation cycles more juvenile wood is formed compared to the mature wood, which contains shorter fibres. Wimmer *et al.* (2002) stated that trees should grow to larger diameters to reduce the proportion of juvenile wood; otherwise the average fibre length would be too small. Kojima *et al.* (2008) agreed with these findings that fast growing trees contain large proportions of juvenile wood with unstable properties. Moore *et al.* (2009) reported a negative relationship between growth rate and MOE of *Picea sitchensis.* As the growth rate increased the latewood proportion decreased and with it the density and MOE. Table 1 shows the expected effect of various external factors on wood and fibre properties.

Table 1. Effect of an increa	ase of external factors c	on fibre and wood properties
	130 UI CALCIIIAI 1401013 C	

Wood/Fibre	Moisture/	Fertilization/	Thinning	Initial Stand	Pruning	Temperature	Wind	Altitude	Tree age
Properties	irrigation	Soil Fertility		density					
Fibre length	Shorter ¹	Shorter ²	Shorter ³	Longer	-	Longer ⁴	-	Shorter ⁵	Longer ⁶
Fibro	Wider ⁷	Wider ⁸	Wider ⁹	Smaller		Smaller ¹⁰		Wider	wider ¹¹
	Wider	Wider	WILLEI	Smaller	-	Smaller		WILLEI	wider
diameter									
Cell-wall	Thinner ¹²	Thinner ¹³	Thinner	Thicker	-	Thicker	-	Thinner	Thicker ¹⁴
thickness									
Lumon	Largor ¹⁵	Largor ¹⁶	Largor ¹⁷			Smallor ¹⁶			Lowor ¹⁹
Lumen	Larger	Larger	Laigei	-	-	Smaller	-	-	LOWEI
diameter									
Earlywood	Higher ²⁰	Higher ²¹	Higher ²²	Lower	Lower ²³	Lower	-	Higher	Lower ²⁴
ratio									
Latewood	Lower ²⁵	Lesser 26	Lower ²⁷	Higher	Higher ²⁸	Higher	-	Lower	Higher ²⁹
ratio									
Ring width	Wider ³⁰	Wider ³¹	Wider ³²	Narrow ³³	-	Narrow ³⁴	-	-	Narrow ³⁵
Tree structure									
huvenile	1 liste e 1 ³⁶	Liste a r ^{3/}	1 link a ³⁸	1	L avva 1 ⁴⁰	Lauran	1	1	L avva 1 ⁴¹
Juvenile	Higner	Higner	Higne	Lower	Lower	Lower	-	-	Lower
wood ratio									
Mature wood	Lower ⁴²	Lower ⁴³	Lower ⁴⁴	Higher	Higher ⁴⁵	Higher	-	-	Higher ⁴⁶
ratio									
Mechanical pro	perties								
Wood density	Lower ⁴⁷	Lower ⁴⁸	Lower ⁴⁹	Higher⁵⁰	Higher ⁵¹	Higher ⁵²	Higher ⁵³	-	Higher ⁵⁴
_				-	-	-	•		•
MOF	1	L a	Lauran	1 linte a 1 ^{5/}		L lierber ⁵⁸		L a	L Lian ha a 1 ⁶⁰
NICE	Lower	Lower	Lower	Higher	-	Higher	-	Lower	Higher
MOR	Lower ⁶¹	Lower ⁶²	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Reaction	Higher	Higher	Higher ⁶³	-	-	-	Higher ⁶⁴	-	-
wood	J	Ĩ	Ŭ				Ŭ		

1.Posy (1965), 2.Bisset et al. (1951) and Bowyer et al. (2003), 3.Cao et al. (2008) and Bowyer et al. (2003), 4.Lindström (1997) and Jyske (2008), 5.Via et al. (2004), 6.Bowyer et al. (2003), Malan (1989), Lindström (1997), 7.Cao et al. (2008), 8.Cao et al. (2008), 9.Bowyer et al. (2003), 10.Rudman and Mckinnell (1970), 11.Lindström (1997), Bowyer et al. (2003), 12.Saren 2006 and Jyske 2008), 13.Posy (1964), 14.Bowyer et al. (2003), Walker (1993), 15.Nicholls and Brown (1976), 16.Posy (1964), 17.Bowyer et al. (2003), 18.Thomas et al. (2004), 19. Bowyer et al. (2003), Walker (1993), Tsoumis (1991), 20.Polge and Keller (1968), 21.Cown (1977), 22.Bowyer et al. (2003), 23.Bowyer et al. (2003), 24. Bowyer et al. (2003), Walker (1993), Tsoumis (1991), 25.Miller (1999) and Nicholls and Brown (1976), 26.Cown (1997) and Beets et al. (2001), 27.Larson (1973), 28.Bowyer et al. (2003), 29.Malan (1989), Zobel and Sprague (1998), 30.Wimmer et al. (2002), 31.Posy (1964), 32.Bowyer et al. (2003), 33.Lindström (1997) and Zhu et al (2006), 34. Zhu et al (2006), 35.Bowyer et al. (2003), Malan (1989), 36.Wimmer et al. 2002, 37.Saren (2006) and Cao et al. (2008), 38.Bowyer et al. (2003), 39.Lindstrom (1997), 40.Zobel (1992), 41.Bowyer et al. (2003), Walker (1993), Tsoumis (1991) 42.Miller (1999), 43.Cao et al. (2008), 44.Bowyer.et al (2003), 45.Smith (1965), 46.Bowyer et al.(2003), Walker (1993), Tsoumis (1991), 47.Mäkinen et al. (2002), 48.Posy (1965), 49.Lindström (1997) and Cao et al. (2008), 50.Tsoumis (1991), 51.Smith (1965), 52.Thomas et al. (2004), 53.Dunham and Cameron (2000), 54. Bowyer et al. (2003), 55.Kao and Walter (1975), 56.Kao and Walter (1975), 57.Waghorn et al. (2007), 58.Watt et al. (2009), 59.Moore et al. (2009), 60.Lassere et al. (2009), 61.Tsoumis (1991), 62.Kao and Walter (1975), 63.Bowyer et al. (2003), 64.Bowyer et al. (2003).

3. Materials and Methods

The content of this thesis was part of a bigger research project on the effect of climate change on tree growth and wood quality. The sample trees for the fibre characterisation where therefore selected as a sub-sample from a previously used, bigger sample (Fischer 2011) in order to make use of the extensive water balance modelling results obtained there.

3.1 Site selection and description

Plantations from the Boland (Grabouw plantation) and Tsitsikamma (Kruisfontein and Blueliliesbush plantation) area were selected for this trial to ensure that a wide range of water availabilities was covered, while all other site properties were tried to be kept as constant as possible (Fischer 2011). Furthermore, only sites with available weather data were chosen. Compartment information for each site was supplied by Mountain to Ocean Forestry (MTO) and only compartments with trees aged between 12 and 16 years were selected. After site selection, field inspections – looking e.g. at the slope of the stand, stand uniformity and soil type - were carried out to determine the suitability of each stand. Areas with a uniform distribution of trees were identified and then inspected on foot. To ensure that the available soil water would not be affected by sub-soil drainage or that soil water could be replenished by the lateral movement of water within the soil, the trial plots were placed in topographical positions that were water-shedding rather than water-accumulating. Also, where stands were in close proximity to mountain foothills, stands with a deep soil profile were avoided, because it would have been more difficult to determine the soil water movement into the plot area by a visual inspection of the soil profile.

Plots of 25 x 25 trees were selected in suitable areas and the diameter of each tree was measured and recorded. The tree spacing was 2.7 m X 2.7 m at the Grabouw (G36), Blueliliesbush (D3 and D10) and Kruisfontein (G19) plantation sites, whereas Grabouw (E18) and Kruisfontein (F14c) had a spacing of 3 m x 3 m and 3.5 m x 3.5 m, respectively.



Figure 2: Plantation locations

The stand characteristics of the sites and the soil profile of the selected stand for this study are given in Table 2 and Appendix B and the location of the sites is shown in Figure 2. Six sites were selected according to their ETa values and they were chosen so that the widest possible range of ETa values was covered.

cted trial sites

Compartm	Plantation	Altitude	Age	PTPH	СТРН	Age of	Pruning	MAP	MAT	6	12	Soil	Latitude	Longitude
nt.		[m]	[y]			first	age [y]	[mm]	[°C]	months	months	profile		
						thinning				ETa/ETp	ETa/ETp	water		
						[y]								
G36	Grabouw	394	18	1372	413	10	8	954	11.9	0.17	0.27	115	34.074	19.074
D3d	Bluelilieshu	228	15	1372	473	8	10	1060	12.7	0.70	0.73	99	33.074	23,860
530	sh	220	15	1372	475	0	10	1000	12.7	0.70	0.75	33	33.974	23.009
E18	Grabouw	350	14	816	727	13	7	1188	9.1	0.32	0.39	75	34.129	19.015
F 4.4-	Kasisfeatsia	0.17	40	4444	540	40	44	704	40.0	0.54	0.50	040	04.004	00.400
F14C	Kruistontein	247	13	1111	540	12	11	791	13.3	0.51	0.56	313	34.034	23.129
G19d	Kruisfontein	156	13	1372	567	10	11	791	13.3	0.45	0.52	312	34.050	23.109
D10	Blueliliesbu	343	10	1372	648	8	7	1060	12.7	0.6	0.64	52	33.959	23.894
	sh													

PTPH: Planted trees per hectare, CTPH: Counted trees per hectare, MAP: mean annual precipitation, MAT: mean annual temperature, ETa: actual evapotranspiration, ETp: potential evapotranspiration, soil profile water: the maximum available soil water if the profile is at field capacity.

3.1.1 Estimation of evapotranspiration, soil water content and water supply/demand ratio

Actual evapotranspiration (ETa) is the quantity of water that is actually removed from a surface due to the processes of evaporation, and transpiration (Pidwirny 2006), which is dependent on water availability, temperature, humidity and wind. The ETa increases with temperature, as long as there is water to evaporate and for plants to transpire (Pidwirny 2006). The potential evapotranspiration (ETp) describes the environmental demand for evapotranspiration. For that the evapotranspiration rate of a short green crop is used that is completely shading the ground, of uniform height and with adequate water in the soil profile or the amount of water that would be evaporated under an optimal set of conditions, among which is an unlimited supply of water (Pidwirny 2006). The factors that affect the ETp value include the plant's growth stage or level of maturity, percentage of soil cover, solar radiation, humidity, temperature and wind. ETp is higher in the summer, on less cloudy days, and closer to the equator. ETp is also higher on windy days because the evaporated moisture can be guickly moved away, allowing more water to evaporate. The supply/demand ratio (ETa/ETp) is the ratio of actual (ETa) to potential (ETp) evapotranspiration. A lower value of ETa/ETp indicates that the stand is under stress (Fischer 2011).

For this study the ETa/ETp ratio was used to characterise the water availability as an index of water supply to demand. The ETa/ETp ratio was determined for all stands in this study by Fisher (2011) based on the hydrological model (HyMo), which was developed by Rötzer *et al.* (2004). This model calculates a full water balance for a stand of plants based on daily temperature, precipitation, radiation or sunshine duration, wind speed and humidity and additional site information, such as latitude, longitude, altitude, soil depth, soil texture and stand characteristics (see Appendix B). The daily change of the soil water content was calculated by estimating the actual evapotranspiration, the interception and the runoff (Equation 1):

$$\Delta \Psi = rr - e t_a - int - ro - cr + irr$$
(Eq.1)

With

 $\Delta \Psi$: change in soil water content in mm/d

- rr: Precipitation in mm/d
- eta: actual evapotranspiration in mm/d
- ro : total runoff in mm/d
- int : rainfall interception by canopy in mm/d
- cr : capillary rise in mm/d
- *irr* : irrigation in mm/d

The supply/demand ratio (ETa/ETp ratio) was determined after estimating the daily actual and potential evaporation with the HyMo model and from the daily actual and potential evapotranspiration the monthly and yearly average ETa/ETp was calculated from those values.

3.2 Sample selection

The genetic tree material of the sample tree originates from genetically improved seeds from California fields were imported in 1930 and planted in South Africa. The seeds were open pollinated, which might have led to the production of new variations, because of breading is uncontrolled and the pollen source is unknown. The trees from the MTO plantations were, however, all of the same genetic stock.

From each of the 6 sites, six trees were felled and disks with a thickness of \pm 25mm were cut at diameter at breast height (dbh), (Fischer 2011). As indicated above, a subsample from these was used in this study by selecting the dbh disks of two trees per site. Disks with visible reaction wood were excluded and regions close to knots were avoided for the fibre sampling. The disks were sanded with a disk sander to improve the visibility of the annual growth rings and to determine the width of growth rings (Figure 3).



Figure 3: a) sanding of disks, b) sanded disk

3.3 Determination of ring width and early/latewood ratio

The year ring width was determined with a custom built Eklund machine and measured were the earlywood width, latewood width and earlywood/latewood ratio (Ew/Lw ratio) for each ring (Seifert, unpublished). The Ew/Lw ratio was determined based on the colour of the wood on an visual base.



Figure 4: Measurement of early and late wood width

The earlywood to latewood ratio is given by:

Ratio=a/b

(Eq. 2)

3.4 Sample preparation for fibre analysis

Each disk was cut in half with a band saw, leaving the pith intact on one half for possible further ring analysis. A thin strip was then cut from the pith to bark (Figure 5) and from this strip, very small blocks of early and latewood were separated and clearly labelled (site, tree, year, Ew/Lw). The blocks were separated according to

their colour and by carefully distinguishing the translation from earlywood to latewood. The latewood of *P. radiata* is visibly darker than the early wood. Disks that contained compression wood were cut on the tension side, because on this side the rings are wider.



Figure 5: Sample preparation for fibre analysis

3.5 Determination of fibre length

The fibre length was determined in all earlywood sections after maceration. Maceration is the technique used to separate fibres by dissolving the middle lamella. Match-size stick sized sections of earlywood were macerated in Jeffrey's solution (10g chromic acid dissolved it in 190 ml distilled water, to which 15 ml nitric acid was added) at room temperature for 24 hours. The fibres were crushed with a glass rod before they were cleaned and stored in distilled water (Figure 6a, b).







C)

For microscope analysis a few drops of the fibre suspension were spread on a microscope slide (Figure 6c) and the water was allowed to evaporate. Two slides were prepared per sample and from each slide three images were acquired with a Leica EZ 4D stereo microscope (Figure 7). The images were 16x magnified and the length of about 100 intact fibres (or as many as possible) were determined with the Leica image software and the average fibre length per year ring was determined.



Figure 7: Measurement of fibre length.

3.6 Determination of cell wall thickness, cell and lumen diameter

Cell wall thickness, cell and lumen diameter were measured on about 20 μ m thick cross-sections cut from each earlywood and latewood section. Before cutting the sections, the wood was softened in warm water below 100 °C for one hour and sections were cut with a Leitz sliding microtome. The first 5 sections were discarded to avoid deformed cells in the samples, and then the following three sections were kept for analysis. Before image analysis, the samples were conditioned for about two weeks at 20 °C and 65 % relative humidity in a conditioning room.

One image was acquired of each of the three sections with a Leica DM transmission microscope (Figure 8). The images were 400x magnified and the cell wall thickness, lumen and cell diameter of 100 cells (or as many as possible) per sample were measured to determine the average values per tree ring.



Figure 8: Measurement of cell wall thickness, cell and lumen diameter.

3.7 Statistical Analysis

The measured ring and fibre data were captured in an Excel spreadsheet and averages and standard deviations of each property determined. Subsequently, all fiber and ring properties were "detrended" to eliminate the age factor. The age effect is removed by a regression (See Figure 9a and b). The regression equations for the detrending of each variable were selected based on the principles of best fit across all trees and the principle of parsimony (less parameters is better) and are displayed in Table 3.

The detrending resulted in annual deviations from the average wood property. Those values were then regressed against the ETa/ETp deviations, which were calculated based on the average annual value determined over all 5-10 years (Fisher 2011).

 Table 3: Selected functions for detrending of tree ring and fibre properties.

Wood property	Equation for detrending
Ring width	$Y = x^4$. $a_4 + x^3$. $a_3 + x^2$. $a_2 + x$. $a_1 + a_0$
Earlywood/latewood ratio	$Y = x^2$. $b_2 + x$. $b_1 + b_0$
Fibre length	$Y = x^4$. $c_4 + x^3$. $c_3 + x^2$. $c_2 + x$. $c_1 + c_0$
Fibre diameter	$Y = x. d_0$
Lumen diameter	$Y = x^2$. $e_2 + x$. $e_1 + e_0$
Cell wall thickness	$Y = x^2$. $f_2 + x$. $f_1 + f_0$



a)



b)

Figure 9: a) averaged cell wall thickness of latewood, b) detrended cell wall thickness of latewood.

Thus the deviations of the wood properties from the trend contain the effect of all other factors than age. This yielded effectively a centering of the data on both axes, where negative values indicate smaller values of wood properties or ETa/ETp respectively than the average and positive values indicate bigger than average values. Figure 10 shows possible outcomes of this correlation:



Figure 10: Possible correlation types between wood properties and ETa/ETp

The data was then imported in to statistical analysis program (SPSS 19) for a linear regression.

$$Y = a + b.x$$
(Eq.3)

For the correlation of macroscopic ring properties with microscopic fibre properties Pearson's correlation and partial correlations were calculated. In partial correlation the age is used as a control variable (covariate) in order to eliminate its influence on the correlations of other variables.

4. Results and Discussion

4.1 General description of ring width and fibre properties

A general description of the tree ring and fibre properties, based on minimum, maximum average and standard deviation is provided in Table 4.

Wood property	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard deviation
Ring width (mm)	136	2.22	29.49	8.81	4.45
Earlywood/Latewood ratio	136	0.19	13.31	2.57	2.34
Fibre length (mm)	137	0.69	2.65	1.45	0.43
Fibre diameter of earlywood (µm)	135	1.74	3.00	2.46	0.28
Fibre diameter of latewood (µm)	135	1.34	2.46	1.97	0.23
Lumen diameter of earlywood (µm)	135	1.14	2.55	1.87	0.25
Lumen diameter of latewood (µm)	135	0.85	1.78	1.18	0.17
Cell wall thickness of earlywood (µm)	135	0.40	1.27	.84	0.18
Cell wall thickness of latewood (µm)	135	0.42	1.67	1.04	0.24

Table 4: The minimum, maximum and the mean of all ring width and fibre properties

4.2 Fibre and ring properties as a function of cambial age

This chapter presents fibre and ring properties as a function of the cambial age. The values presented were obtained from dbh discs of two trees of each site. According to literature (see Chapter 2) fibre diameter (FD), cell wall thickness (CWT), and fibre length (FL) are expected to increase with increasing tree age, whereas lumen diameter (LD), earlywood/latewood ratio (Ew/Lw) and ring width (RW) are expected to decrease with increasing age.

The mean annual ETa/ETp ratio is plotted additionally in order to identify outliers caused by a typical weather conditions. The ETa/ETp ratio is also used to characterise the average water availability of the different sites, as it integrates the underlying water balance via modelled precipitation, soil water holding capacity and temperature/ air water deficit. The weather data is presented in Appendix A.

Trends are marked in all graphs with a dashed line. These trend lines are, however, not fitted regression lies but are introduced to increase the visibility. The regression curves are shown in Appendix C.

4.2.1 Site D3

This site is located in Bluelilliesbush / Tsitsikamma and is with a five year average ETa/ETp value of 0.7 the site with the highest average water availability in this study.

Figure 11 illustrates how fibre and ring properties changed with cambial age. The fibre length did not increase with age, as expected - it showed rather scattered values in tree 1 and remained more or less constant in tree 2. The fibre diameter increased, as expected, until an age of about seven years, after which a slight decline can be observed. This could have been caused by lower MAP in the years 2005 (year8), 2008 (year11) and 2009 (year12), and higher MAT in the years 2005 (year8), and 2009 (year12), when the Tsitsikamma region experienced a severe drought. Cell wall thickness increased with age, as expected. The lumen diameter increased in the first six years, after which it decreased slightly, as expected. Since no weather data is available for the early growth years, this pattern cannot be explained with environmental factors.

The ring width shows large fluctuations but a general reduction with cambial age. At 8 years age the ring width shows a sudden peak, after which it decreased further. This peak value could have been caused by a high ETa/ETp value in this year. The Ew/Lw ratio decreased with increasing age, as expected.



Figure 11: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickness, d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtained from site D3. Dashed lines are for easier visibility.
4.2.2 Site D10

This site is located in Bluelilliesbush / Tsitsikamma and is with a five year average ETa/ETp value of 0.6 the site with the second highest water availability in this study.



Figure 12: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickness, d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtained from site D10. Dashed lines are for easier visibility.

The fibre length shows an initial decrease in both trees and increases after about four years of age. The fibre diameter and cell wall thickness increase, as expected with age. The lumen diameter also increases in the early years, after which it remains constant.

The ring width decreases after four years and the Ew/Lw ratio shows very scattered values with a rather unclear trend of decreasing values.

The unusual behavior in the early years could possibly be explained by an average MAP and low MAT in year two (2002) and an increased MAP in the years three (2003) and year four (2004).

4.2.3 Site E18

This site is located in Grabouw / Boland and is with a five year average ETa/ETp value of 0.32 the second driest site of this study.

Figure 13 shows that fibre length increased with increasing age, as expected, although tree 1 shows a decrease in the last three years, which correlates with lower ETa/ETp values in those years. The fibre diameter and cell wall thickness increased with increasing age in both samples. The lumen diameter increased in the earlywood of both samples until an age of 6 years, after which it remained more or less constant. This trend could not be observed in the latewood, where the lumen diameter hardly changed. Ring width and Ew/Lw ratio decreased with increasing tree age after 4 years.



Figure 13: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickness, d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtained from site E18. Dashed lines are for easier visibility.

4.2.4 Site F14

This site is located in Kruisfontein / Tsitsikamma and is with a five year average ETa/ETp value of 0.51 the third wettest site of this study.

Figure 14 shows that the fibre length increased with increasing age, as expected. The fibre diameter increased with increasing age in both early and latewood until an age of 6 years, after which it decreased again. Cell wall thickness also increased with age in both earlywood and latewood. The lumen diameter increased in the earlywood and remained constant in the latewood. The ring width and Ew/Lw ratio decreased with increasing age. However, an initial increase and subsequent fluctuation of ring width could be observed in both trees.





Figure 14: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickness, d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtained from site F14. Dashed lines are for easier visibility.

4.2.5 Site G19

This site is located in Kruisfontein / Tsitsikamma and is with a five year average ETa/ETp value of 0.45 the third driest site of this study.

Figure 15 shows that the fibre length increased after about 5 years of age. The fibre diameter, as well as the cell wall thickness increased, as expected, with increasing age in both trees. The lumen diameter increased in the earlywood cells and decreased in the latewood until about 6 years of age, after which it increased again. 2002 (year 2) had an average MAP and higher MAT, which could explain the low initial lumen diameter. 2003 and 2004 were wetter years, which could explain the increase in lumen diameter. The ring width and Ew/Lw ratio fluctuated visibly but showed a general decrease with age.



Figure 15: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickness, d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtained from site G19. Dashed lines are for easier visibility.

4.2.6 Site G36

This site is located in Grabouw / Boland and is with a five year average ETa/ETp value of 0.17 the driest site of this study.

Figure 16 shows that the fibre length increased until an age of 8 years again, after which a sharp decline can be observed in both trees. From year 10 onwards the fibre length increases again. 2003 was a rather cold year with an average MAP, which could have caused the sudden decline. The fibre diameter was generally increasing with age, although the values are scattered widely. The cell wall thickness increased, as expected. The lumen diameter increased in earlywood up to an age of 6 years, after which it remained constant. In latewood the lumen diameter was scattered but generally decreased. The ring width and earlywood/latewood ratio decreased with age, as expected.



Figure 16: Yearly ETa/ETp values and a) fibre length, b) fibre diameter, c) cell wall thickness, d) lumen diameter, e) ring width and f) earlywood/latewood ratio of the two trees obtained from site G36. Dashed lines are for easier visibility.

The fibre length ranged from about 0.69 to 2.65 mm and increased in most sites with cambial age. In site D3 this trend was the least visible while in site D10 and G19 the increase only started after four years. In site G36 the increase was "disrupted" in year eight. This agrees with the results of Lindström (1997) on Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) and Malan (1989) on *Pinus radiata*, who showed that fibre length increased with increasing age.

The fibre diameter increased with increasing tree age in all sites but showed a decline or levelling in sites D3 and E18 after 7 years of age. Lindström (1997) found similar bahaviour in Norway spruce. His results indicate that tracheid length and diameter increase with increasing tree age.

The cell wall thickness increased with tree age on most sites and this effect was typically more pronounced in the latewood. Bowyer et al. (2003) and Walker (1993) mentioned that the proportion of the cell wall increases with age, because of the increasing of proportion of latewood and reduction of earlywood proportion with age.

The lumen diameter is expected to decrease with increasing tree age. This could only be observed in the latewood of trees from sites G19 and G36. In all earlywood and the remaining latewood samples, the lumen diameter increased until an age of about 6 to 8 years, after which it remained roughly constant. This could only partly be explained with the available weather data, and probably thinning effects also play a role. A response to thinning and the increased space is increased crown development and formation of wider growth rings, which might be lead to an increase of lumen diameter (Bowyer 2003).

The ring width decreased with increasing age on all sites, but in sites D10, E18, F14, G19 and G36 this decrease only started after 4 years of age, after an initial increase. The ring widths in site D3 were rather scattered. Malan's (1989) results also indicate that ring width decreased linearly with increasing ring number.

The Ew/Lw ratio decreased with increasing age on all sites apart from site D10, where the values were scattered for both trees. Zobel and Sprague (1998) similarly found that there is usually an inherent increase in latewood proportion with cambial age. With increasing age and stand closure, crowns of trees gradually recede upwards, resulting in tree rings with a higher proportion of latewood than earlywood.

35

Deviations from the general trend could be explained with unusual weather patterns in those years in some cases.

An overview of all fibre properties as a function of tree age over all sites is given in Table 5. The properties that did not follow the expected trend are highlighted.

Table 5: Change of fibre properties with increasing cambial age. \uparrow : increase with age, \downarrow : decrease with age, \rightarrow : no change, $\uparrow\downarrow$: inconsistent pattern.

Sites	D	3	D1	0	E18		F1	4	G1	9	G	36
Tree	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2	1	2
FL	↑↓	\rightarrow	¢	1	↑	↑	↑	↑	1		1	
FD-EW	↑↓	¢↓	Ţ	¢	¢	¢	↑↓	↑↓	Ţ	¢	Ţ	¢
FD-LW	¢↓	↑↓	Î	Ť	î	î	¢↓	↑↓	Ť	î	Ť	Î
CWT-EW	Ŷ	¢	Ţ	¢	Ť	Ť	Ŷ	Ť	Ť	Ť	Ŷ	Ť
CWT-LW	Ţ	ſ	Ţ	Ţ	¢	¢	Ţ	Ţ	Ţ	¢	Ţ	Ţ
LD-EW	Î	ſ	ſ	ſ	Î	Î	Î	Î	Î	Î	Î	Î
LD-LW	¢	1	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	↑↓	↑↓	\rightarrow	\rightarrow
RW	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ
Ew/Lw ratio	Ļ	↓	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ

Note: FD-EW=fibre diameter of early wood, FD-LW=fibre diameter of late wood, LD-EW=lumen diameter of early wood, LD-LW= lumen diameter of late wood, CWT-EW=Cell wall thickness of early wood, CWT-LW=cell wall thickness of late wood, FL-EW fibre length of early wood, RW=ring width, Ew/Lw ratio=earlywood / latewood ratio

4.3 Fibre and ring properties as a function of water availability

In this chapter the result of the analyse fibre and ring properties of the two trees are presented for each site as a function of water availability, expressed by the ratio of actual to potential evapotranspiration (ETa/ETp). According to literature (see Chapter 2), fibre diameter (FD), lumen diameter (LD), early/latewood ratio (Ew/Lw) and ring width (RW) are expected to increase with increased water availability, whereas cell wall thickness (CWT) and fibre length (FL) are expected to decrease with decreased water availability.

Detrended ring and fibre properties were plotted against ETa/ETp values as described in Chapter 3.7. Figures 17 (ring width) and 18 (cell wall thickness of latewood) show examples of these correlation plots and no correlation could be found. The full set of correlation plots is shown in Appendix D.



Figure 17: Correlation of ring width and ETa/ETp.



Figure 18: Correlation of cell wall thickness (latewood) and ETa/ETp.

As illustrated in Table 6 no significant correlations were found between any of the ring or fibre properties and water availability at a significance level of p<0.05.

This could be due to the fact that the sample trees used for this experiment were only half rotation age, which means that they contained a large portion of juvenile wood. Juvenile wood is generally characterized by low density, thin cell walls, short tracheids, small lumens, high grain angle, and high microfibril angle, when compared to mature wood (Macdonald and Hubert 2002). Harris (1965) indicated that the wood density of juvenile wood from 22 years old *radiata pine* was 330 kg/m³ while that of the mature wood, near the bark was 430 kg/m³. Bendtsen's (1978) research on Douglas-fir showed that juvenile wood had a specific gravity of 0.39 and that of mature wood 0.45. Wheeler et al. (1966) indicated that the tracheid length of juvenile wood of loblolly pine was shorter than mature wood: 3.38 mm compared to 4.44 mm. Barefoot et al. (1965) comprehensive research results showed that there were differences between the fibre properties of juvenile and mature wood. They indicated that the juvenile cell wall thickness of earlywood, cell diameter of earlywood, and lumen diameter of earlywood were 4.85 µm, 47.21µm, and 37.52 µm respectively, whereas for mature wood the cell wall thickness of earlywood, cell diameter of earlywood, and lumen diameter of earlywood were 5.02 µm, 53.50 µm, and 43.47 um respectively.

Table 6: Correlation of fibre properties with water availability with a significance level of p<0.05

		Mode	l Sum	mary		Parameter Estimates		
Wood property	R Square	F	df1	df2	Sig.	Constan t	b1	
Ring width	.002	.147	1	89	.703	057	.611	
Earlywood/latewood ratio	0	1	1	89	.48	019	740	
Fibre length	.001	.086	1	89	.770	029	070	
Fibre diameter (Earlywood)	.000	.004	1	89	.948	066	019	
Fibre diameter (Latewood)	.008	.691	1	89	.408	.004	.108	
Lumen diameter (Earlywood)	.001	.070	1	89	.792	013	041	
Lumen diameter (Latewood)	.003	.237	1	89	.628	.000	.051	
Cell wall thickness (Earlywood)	.005	.406	1	89	.526	.092	.129	
Cell wall thickness (latewood)	.020	1.789	1	89	.185	007	142	

4.4 Correlation of ring and fibre properties

In this chapter an attempt is made to correlate macroscopic ring properties with microscopic fibre properties, since ring properties are easily accessible via discs or cores and would provide excellent proxies to estimate fibre properties if tight correlations existed.

To correlate the ring width and Ew/Lw ratio with fibre properties, Pearson's and partial correlation coefficients were calculated (Table 7 and 8), at significance level of P < 0.05.

Based on Pearson's correlation coefficient significant positive correlations were found between ring width and Ew/Lw ratio, with a correlation coefficient of r = 0.432 (p = 0.000). A significant negative correlation was determined between ring width and fibre length with a correlation coefficient of r = -0.173 (p = 0.044) and between ring width and earlywood and latewood fibre diameter with a correlation coefficient of r = -0.310 (p = 0.000) and r = -0.283 (p = 0.001), respectively.

No correlation was found between ring width and lumen diameter of earlywood, however a positive correlation existed between ring width and the lumen diameter of latewood with a correlation coefficient of r = 0.198 (p = 0.022).

Between ring width and earlywood and latewood cell wall thickness a significant negative correlation was determined with correlation coefficients of r = -0.352 (p = 0.000) and r = -0.419 (p = 0.000), respectively.

Partial correlation analysis allowed for the use of age as a control variable (covariate) in order to eliminate its influence on the correlations of other variables.

Table 7: Pearson's correlation between ring and fibre properties. Significant correlations are highlighted

					fibre	fibre	lumen	lumen	cell wall	cell wall
		ring		fibre length	diameter	diameter	diameter	diameter	thickness	thickness
		width	E/L ratio	(earlywood)	(earlywood)	(latewood)	(earlywood)	(latewood)	(earlywood)	(latewood)
ring width	Pearson		0.432	-0.173	-0.310	-0.283	-0.091	0.198	-0.352	-0.419
	Correlation			· · · · · · · · ·						
	Sig. (2-		0.000	0.044	0.000	0.001	0.291	0.022	0.000	0.000
	tailed)									
	N		136	136	135	135	135	135	135	135
E/L ratio	Pearson			-0.219	-0.366	-0.298	-0.167	0.122	-0.421	-0.439
	Correlation									
	Sig. (2-			0.010	0.000	0.000	0.052	0.157	0.000	0.000
	tailed)									
	N			136	135	135	135	135	135	135
fibre length	Pearson				0.273	-0.051	0.186	-0.313	0.291	0.300
(earlywood)	Correlation									
	Sig. (2-				0.001	0.553	0.031	0.000	0.001	0.000
	tailed)									
	N				135	135	135	135	135	135
fibre	Pearson					0.428	0.812	-0.132	0.307	0.586
diameter	Correlation									
(earlywood)	Sig. (2-					0.000	0.000	0.127	0.000	0.000
	tailed)									
	N					135	135	135	135	135
fibre	Pearson						0.351	0.375	0.174	0.555
diameter	Correlation									
(latewood)	Sig. (2-						0.000	0.000	0.043	0.000
	tailed)									
	N						135	135	135	135
lumen	Pearson							-0.002	-0.016	0.377
diameter	Correlation									
(earlywood)	Sig. (2-							0.985	0.857	0.000
	talled)							405	105	405
	N							135	135	135
lumen	Pearson								-0.298	-0.403
diameter	Correlation									
(latewood)	Sig. (2-								0.000	0.000
	talled)								125	105
	IN									130
cell wall	Pearson									0.523
thickness	Correlation									
(earlywood)	Sig. (2-									0.000
	n									135
										135
cell wall	Pearson									
thickness	Correlation									
(latewood)	Sig. (2-									
	talleu)									
	IN									

When a partial correlation was calculated with age as the control variable (Table 8), a negative correlation was found between ring width and E/L ratio, with a correlation coefficient of r = -0.183 (p = 0.034).

A significant negative correlation was found between Ew/Lw ratio and fibre length, with a correlation coefficient of r = -0.219 (p = 0.010) and between Ew/Lw ratio and earlywood and latewood fibre diameter with correlation coefficients of r = -0.366 (p = 0.000) and r = -0.298 (p = 0.000), respectively. No correlation existed between Ew/Lw ratio and lumen diameter of earlywood or latewood, whereas the Ew/Lw ratio and earlywood and latewood cell wall thickness were negatively correlated with correlation coefficients of r = -0.421 (p = 0.000) and r = -0.439 (p = 0.000), respectively.

No correlation was found between ring width and all the other fibre properties with age as a control variable.

A negative correlation was found between Ew/Lw ratio and cell wall thickness of earlywood with age as a control variable, with a correlation coefficient of r = -0.217 (p = 0.012). However, no correlation was found between the Ew/Lw ratio and all other fibre properties when age was used as a control variable.

This means that a positive correlation of ring width or Ew/Lw ratio with age creates 'pseudo correlations' with the other wood anatomical variables. This does not render ring properties useless as a proxy to predict anatomical features per se as long as it is kept in mind that the cambial age is the true correlation and ring width only the covariate. However, this limits the application of the obtained correlations to growth conditions and silvicultural regimes similar to the ones in our data.

Table 8: Partial correlation between ring and fibre properties. Significant correlations are highlighted.

Control Variables					fibre	fibre	lumen	lumen	cell wall	cell wall	
			ring	E/L	fibre length	diameter	diameter	diameter	diameter	thickness	thickness
			width	ratio	(earlywood)	(earlywood)	(latewood)	(earlywood)	(latewood)	(earlywood)	(latewood)
age	ring width	Correlation		.183	086	.019	095	.030	.022	088	062
		Significance (2-tailed)		.034	.322	.826	.276	.728	.799	.313	.478
		df		132	132	132	132	132	132	132	132
	E/L ratio	Correlation			133	107	136	077	050	217	149
		Significance (2-tailed)			.126	.220	.116	.375	.564	.012	.086
		df			132	132	132	132	132	132	132
	fibre length	Correlation				.206	129	.155	273	.231	.235
	(earlywood)	Significance (2-tailed)				.017	.137	.073	.001	.007	.006
		df				132	132	132	132	132	132
	fibre	Correlation					.304	.856	.035	.066	.379
	diameter (earlywood)	Significance					.000	.000	.687	.445	.000
		df					132	132	132	132	132
	fibre	Correlation						.309	.538	.006	.459
	diameter (latewood)	Significance (2-tailed)						.000	.000	.943	.000
		df						132	132	132	132
	lumen	Correlation							.059	125	.337
	diameter (earlywood)	Significance (2-tailed)							.496	.149	.000
		df							132	132	132
	lumen	Correlation								184	289
	diameter (latewood)	Significance (2-tailed)								.033	.001
		df								132	132
	cell wall	Correlation									.322
	thickness	Significance									.000
	(earlywood)	(2-tailed)									
		df									132
	cell wall	Correlation									
	thickness (latewood)	Significance (2-tailed)									
		df									

5. Conclusion and Outlook

The results presented in section 4.1 showed that on most sites the ring and fibre properties changed as expected with cambial age; this indicates that the age has a strong effect on the properties of young *P. radiata* trees and a reduction of rotation period as currently practiced in South African forestry will have an effect of the properties of the wood resource (Crickmay and Associates 2004). Based on the obtained results at mid-rotation, the effect of water availability on ring and fibre properties, however, seems to be insignificant, as no correlations between ETa/ETp and any of the ring or fibre properties could be found (section 4.3). This does not necessarily mean that water availability has no effect on wood quality of *P. radiata*, as the trees used in this experiment were rather young and contained a large portion of juvenile wood. Blair *et al.* (1976), Larson *et al.* (2001), Van Lear *et al.* (1973) indicated that the properties of juvenile wood are less predictable than of mature wood. Considering that the sampling for this project was done at the lower end of the log (dbh), the wood material considered in this study can be considered to be representative for the cambial age of the timber.

A modeling of the change in wood quality that could be expected with climate change from the data obtained in this project was, however, not possible.

A further objective of this project was the correlation of ring and fibre properties, to determine the feasibility of using ring properties as a descriptive proxy for wood and fibre quality. Without taking age effects into consideration, a significant negative correlation was found between ring width and Ew/Lw ratio and most fibre properties, except the lumen diameter of earlywood.

However, when age was used as control variable (covariate) in a partial correlation, a significant negative correlation was only found between ring width and Ew/Lw ratio. All other wood anatomical variables showed no significant correlation to ring width. This does not render tree ring width useless as a proxy to predict anatomical features per se, as long as it is kept in mind that the cambial age is the true correlation and ring width only the covariate.

44

The major limitations of this project were the young sample trees, which were with 15 years around half rotation age. Furthermore, the samples size was with six sites and only two trees per site rather limited. To obtain more significant information about the expected change in wood quality of *Pinus radiata,* further studies should be conducted with a larger sample size and on older trees to capture the full range of age and site related variability.

6. References

- **Bamber, R.K. and Burley, J.** 1983. The wood properties of pine. Commonwealth agricultural bureau, London, p84.
- **Bandtsen, B.A.** 1978. Properties of wood from improved and intensively managed trees. Forest Product Journal 28: 61-72
- Barefoot, A.C., Hitchings, R.G. and Ellwood, E.L. 1965. Wood characteristics of kraft paper properties of four selected loblolly pines III. Effect of fibre morphology on pulp. Technical association of the pulp and paper industry 49: 137-147.
- Beets, P.N., Gilchrist, K. and Jeffreys, M.P. 2001. Wood density of radiata pine: effect of nitrogen supply. Forest Ecology and Management 145: 173-180.
- Bier Mann, C.J. 1996. Handbook of pulp and paper making. ISBN: 978-0-12-097362 -0
- **Bisset, I.J.W., Dadswell, H.E. and Wardrop, A.B.** 1951. Factors influencing tracheid length in conifer stems. Australian Journal of Forestry 15(1): 17-30
- **Bowyer, J.L., Shmulsky, R. and Haygreen J.G.** 2003 (4th edition). Forest products and wood science: An introduction, Blackwell Publishing.
- Cao, T., Valsta, L., Härkönen, S., Saranpää, P. and Mäkelä, A. 2008. Effects of thinning and fertilization on wood properties and economic returns for Norway spruce. Forest Ecology and Management 256: 1280-1289.
- **Cown, D.J.** 1977. Summary of wood quality studies in fertilizer trials. The use of fertilizer in New Zealand forestry. Forestry Institute, New Zealand Symposium No.19.

- **Crickmay and Associates.** 2004b. Supply and demand study of softwood saw log and sawn timber in South Africa.
- Department of environmental affairs and development planning (DEA and DP). 2007. A climate change strategy and action plan for the Western Cape: Responding to the challenge of climate change and sustainable development in the Western Cape.
- Dejardin, A., Laurans, F., Arnaud, D., Breton, C., Pilate, G. and Jleple, C. 2010. Wood formation in angiosperms, plant biology and pathology. Acadèmie des sciences. Elsevier Masson SAS, France.
- Dinwoodie, J.M. 1971. Mechanism of wood and wood composites, Volume 2, Issue3. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- **Downes, G. M., Wimmer, R. and Evans, R.** 2002. Understanding wood formation: gains to commercial forestry through tree ring research. Dendrochronologia 20(1-2): 37-51.
- **Dunham, R.A. and Cameron, A.D.** 2000. Crown, stem and wood properties of wind damaged and undamaged stika spruce. Forest Ecology and Management 135:73-81.
- Edlin, H.L.1965. The summer wood: spring wood ratio in conifers. Forestry 38: 91-112.
- **Fischer, P.** 2011. ō13C as indicator of soil water availability and drought stress in *Pinus radiata* stands in South Africa, MSc thesis, University of Stellenbosch.
- **Guilley, E., Herve, J.C. and Nepven, G.** 2003. The influence of site quality, silviculture and region on wood density mixed model in *Quercus petraea liebl*. Forest Ecology and Management 189: 111-121.

- Harris, J.M. 1965. A survey of wood density, tracheid length and latewood characteristics of *radiata pine* grown in New Zealand. New Zealand Forestry Service Technical Report 47, 31pp
- **Jyske, T.** 2008. The effects of thinning and fertilisation on wood and tracheid properties of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) the results of long-term experiments. Dissertations, Forestry 55-59pp. ISSN 1795-7389, ISBN 978-951-651-198-9 (PDF).
- Kao Hsu, J. and Walters, C. S. 1975. Effect of irrigation and fertilization on selected physical and mechanical properties of loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*). Wood and Fibre 7(3): 192-206.
- Koga, S. and Zhang, S.Y. 2002. Relationships between ring width and wood density components in *balsam fir (Abies balsamea)*.Wood Fibre Science 34(1): 146-157.
- Kojima, M., Yamamato, H., Yoshida, M., Ojio, Y. and Okumura, K. 2008.
 Maturation property of fast-growing hardwood plantation species: A view of fibre length. Forest Ecology and Management 257: 15-22.
- Larson, P.R. 1964. Environmental effect on wood formation. The formation of Wood in forest trees, Zimmerman, M.H. New York; Academic press.
- **Larson, P.R.** 1973. Evaluating the quality of fast grown coniferous wood. Proceeding of the 63rd western forest conference, pp146-152.
- Lasserre, J.P., Mason, E.G. and Watt, M.S. 2005. The effects of genotype and spacing on *Pinus radiata* [D. Don] core wood stiffness in an 11-year old experiment. Forest Ecology and Management 205: 375-383

- Lasserre, J.P., Mason, E.G., Watt, M.S. and Moore, J.R. 2009. Influence of initial planting spacing and genotype on microfibril angle, wood density, fibre properties and modulus of elasticity in *Pinus radiata* [D. Don] core wood. Forest Ecology and Management 258(9): 1924-1931.
- Lindström, H. 1996. Basic density of Norway spruce. Part 2. Predicted by stem taper, mean growth ring width and factors related to crown development. Wood and Fibre Science 28: 240-251
- Lindström, H. 1997. Fibre length, tracheid diameter and latewood percentage in Norway spruce: Development from pith outwards. Wood and Fibre science 29 (1): 21-34.
- Lundgren, C. 2004. Micro fibril angle and density patterns of fertilized and irrigated Norway spruce. Silva Fennica 38 (1): 107-117.
- **Macdonald, E. and Hubert, J.** 2002. A review of the effects of silviculture on timber quality of Sitka spruce. Forestry 75 (2): 107-138.
- Malan, F. S. 1989. Wood property variation in six *Pinus radiata* (D. Don) trees
 grown in the jonkershoek state forest, South African Forestry Journal 151(1):
 39-45

Midgley, G.F., Chapman, R.A., Hewitson, B., Johnston, P., De Wit, M., Ziervogel, G., Mukheibir, P., Van Niekerk, L., Tadross, M., Van Wilgen, B.W.,

Kgope, B., Morant, P.D., Theron, A., Scholes, R.J., and Forsyth, G.G. 2005. A statuesque vulnerability and adaptation assessment of the physical and Socioeconomic effects of climate change in the Western Cape.

Mäkinen, H., Saranpää, P. and Linder, S. 2002. Wood density variation of Norway spruce in relation to nutrient optimization and fibre dimensions. Canadian Journal of Forestry 32(2): 185-194.

- Miller, R.B. 1999. Structure of wood. Wood hand book-Wood as an engineering material. General technical report. FPL-GTR-113 Madison, WI: U.S. department of Agriculture. Forest Service, Forest Products Laboratory, p463.
- Moore, J.R., Lyon, A.J., Searles, G.J. and Vihermaa, L.E. 2009. The effects of site and stand factors on the tree and wood quality of Sitka spruce growing in the United Kingdom. Silva Fennica 43 (3): 383-396.
- **Nicholls, J.W.P. and Brown, A.G.** 1976. Further studies on the ortet-ramet relation ship in wood characteristics of *pinus radiata*.Silvae Genetical 25: 73-78.
- Nicholls, J.W.P. and Dadswell, H.E. 1965. Assessement of wood qualities for tree breeding III.In *pinus radiata* [D.Don] CSIRO, Australia, Division of forest product technical paper NO 24.
- **Pidwirny, M.** 2006. Actual and potential evapotranspiration. Fundamentals of physical geography, 2nd edition.
- Pinto, I. 1998. Modeling of wood conversion chain for *Pinus pinaster*. MSc thesis, Instituto Superior de Agronomia, Universidade Técnica de Lisboa, p83.
- Plomion, C., Leprovost, G. and Stokes, A. 2001. Wood formation in trees. Plant physiology 127: 1513-1523.
- Polge, H. and Keller, R.1968. Influence of water supply on the internal structure of annual rings: An irrigation experiment on *Pinus sylvestris*. Annales des Science Forestieres 25: 123-33.
- **Posey, C.E.** 1964. The effect of fertilization upon wood properties of Loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.), PhD Thesis, North Carolina State University.

- Posey, C.E. 1965. Effects of fertilization upon wood properties of Loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.). Publication 24, committee of southern conference on forest tree improvement, Savannah, pp. 126-130.
- Rost, T.L., Barbour, M.G., Thornton, R.M., Weier, T.E. and Stocking, C.R. 1979. Botany. A brief introduction to plant biology. John Wiley and Sons. New York.
- Roth, B.E., Li, X., Huber, D.A., and Peter, G.F. 2007. Effects of management intensity, genetics and planting density on wood stiffness in a plantation of juvenile Loblolly pine in the south-eastern USA. Forest Ecology and Management 246: 155–162.
- **Rötzer, T., Dittmar, C. and Elling, W.** 2004. A model for site specific estimation of the available soil water content and the evapotranspiration in forest ecosystems. Journal of Environmental Hydrology 12:1-14
- Rudman, P. and Mckinnell, F.H. 1970. Effect of fertilizers on wood density of young radiata pine. Australian Forestry 34(3).
- Saren, M.P. 2006. Characterization of properties of coniferous wood tracheid by Xray diffractions laser scattering and microscopy, University of Helsinki, report series in physics, ISSN 0356-0961, ISNB 952-10-2110-1
- Smith, W. J. 1965. The heritability of fibre characteristics and its application to wood quality improvement in forest trees. IUFRO proceedings, section 41.Vol.2
- Thomas, D.S., Montagu, K.D. and Conroy, J.P. 2004. Changes in the wood density of *Eucalyptus camaldulensis* due to temperature-the physiological link between water viscosity and wood anatomy. Forest Ecology and Management 193: 157-165.
- **Tsoumis, G.** 1991. Science and technology of wood: Structure, properties, and utilization. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.

- Turpie, J.K., Winkler, R. H. and Midgley, G. 2002. Economic impact of climate change in South Africa: A preliminary analysis of unmitigated damage costs.
- Van Jaarsveld, A.S. and Chown, S.L. 2001. Climate change and its impacts in South Africa. Trends in ecology and evolution 16: 13-14.
- Via, B.K., Stine, M., Shupe, T.F. and Groom, L. 2004. Genetic improvement of fibre length and coarseness based on paper product performance and material variability. A review IAWA Journal 25 (4): 401-414.
- Waghorn, M. J., Watt, M. S. and Mason, E. G. 2007. Influence of tree morphology, genetics, and initial stand density on outer wood modulus of elasticity of 17year-old *Pinus radiata*. Forest Ecology and Management 244: 86-92.
- Walker, J. C.F. 1993. Primary wood processing. London: Chapman and Hall, p595.
- Watt, M.S., Clinton, P.C., Parfitt, R.L., Ross, C. and Coker, G. 2009. Modelling the influence of site and weed competition on juvenile modulus of elasticity in *Pinus radiata* across broad environmental gradients. Forest Ecology and Management 258: 1479–1488.
- Watt, M.S., Clinton, P.W., Coker, G., Davis, M.R., Simcock, R., Parfitt, R.L. and
 Dando, J. 2008. Modelling the influence of environment and stand characteristics on basic density and modulus of elasticity for young *Pinus radiata* and *Cupressus lusitanica*. Forest Ecology and Management 255: 1023-1033.
- Wheeler, E.Y., Zobel, B.J. and Weeks, D.L 1966. Tracheid length and diameter variation in the bole of Loblolly pine. Technical association of the pulp and paper industry 49: 484-490.
- Wimmer, R. 2002. Wood anatomical features in tree-rings as indicators of environmental change. Dendrochronology 20(1-2): 21-36

- Wimmer, R., Downes, G.M. and Evans, R. 2002. Temporal variation of micro fibril angle in *Eucalyptus nitens* grown in different irrigation regimes. Tree Physiology 22: 449-457.
- Winandy, J.E. 1994. Wood properties. Arntzen, Charles J., ed. Encyclopaedia of agricultural science. Orlando, FL: Academic Press 4: 549-561.
- Winandy, J.E. and Rowell, R.M. 2005. Chemistry of wood strength. Hand book of wood chemistry and wood composites. CRC press.
- Wright, J.A. 1988. Provenance variation in stem volume and wood density of *Pinus caribaea*, *Pinus oocarpa* and *Pinus Patula* species. Tecunumanii in Puertorico. Turrialba 38: 123-6.
- Wright, J.P. 1970. Site and silivicultural influence on log quality in radiata pine. *Pinus radiata* symposium. Australian National University. Canberra.
- Zhu, J.Y., Scott, C.T., Scallon, K.L. and Myers, G.C. 2006. Effects of plantation density on wood density and anatomical properties of red pine (*Pinus resinosa*). Wood and Fibre Science 39 (3): 502-512.
- **Zobel, B.J. and Sprague, J.R.** 1998. Juvenile wood in forest trees. Springer series in wood science, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Appendix A

Climate data of all sites

Table 9: Climate data of site D3 and D10

Year	MAP (mm)	T max (°C)	T min (°C)	MAT (°C)	Wind (m/s)
2002	961	20.16	12.63	16.39	2.9
2003	1105	20.29	12.92	16.6	3.2
2004	1107	20.79	13.06	16.92	2.8
2005	894	20.45	12.74	16.59	-
2006	1427	19.94	12.66	16.3	-
2007	1452	20.28	12.36	16.32	-
2008	950	19.96	12.34	16.15	-
2009	582	20.77	13.01	16.89	-
2010	892	21.36	11.65	16.5	-

 Table 10: Climate data of site E18

Year	MAP (mm)	T max (°C)	T min (°C)	MAT (°C)	Wind (m/s)
2004	873	21.93	9.64	15.78	1.585
2005	1192	22.44	9.55	15.99	1.94
2006	1224	22.01	8.57	15.29	1.23
2007	1525	22.55	8.83	15.69	1.28
2008	1366	22.53	8.73	15.63	1.46
2009	950	22.72	9.3	16.01	1.87
2010	754	22.25	8.86	15.55	1.63

Appendix A (continued)

Year	MAP (mm)	T max (°C)	T min (°C)	MAT (°C)	Wind (m/s)
2002	890	22.83	13.07	17.95	3.9
2003	1000	22.38	13.19	17.79	3.88
2004	1205	22.85	13.44	18.15	3.88
2005	657	21.13	12.83	16.98	4.5
2006	1111	20.73	12.93	16.83	3.6
2007	1132	20.81	13.25	17.03	3.8
2008	191	20.47	13.64	17.05	3.6
2009	144	21.04	13.79	17.41	3.7
2010	895	21.6	13.7	17.65	-

 Table 11: Climate data of site F14 and G19

Table 12: Climate data of site G36

Year	MAP (mm)	T max (°C)	T min (°C)	MAT (°C)	Wind (m/s)
1998	903.4	21.85	11.57	16.71	1.47
1999	851.2	22.93	12.57	17.75	1.55
2000	757	22.29	12.05	17.17	1.46
2001	1135	22.05	12.25	17.15	1.53
2002	1150	22	11.45	16.72	1.48
2003	708	22.17	11.73	16.95	1.5
2004	569	22.88	12.11	17.49	1.33
2005	938	22.06	11.87	16.96	1.52
2006	817	22.05	11.73	16.89	1.41
2007	1241	22.17	11.74	16.95	1.64
2008	1204	21.88	11.74	16.81	1.65
2009	1024	22.18	12.22	17.2	1.59
2010	864	22.23	12.04	17.13	-

Appendix B

Soil classification and information of all sites

Table 13: Soil characteristics of site D3

Site	D3
Plantation	Bluelilliesbush
Soil form	Longlands 1000
Estimated Soil Depth	80 cm
Soil Profile Wilting point (Vol %)	2.7
Soil profile Field Capacity (vol %)	13.6

Sample	Depth	Clay	Silt	Total	Fine	Medium	Coarse	Classification	% Coarse
	(cm)	(%)	(%)	Sand	Sand	Sand	Sand		fragments
				(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)		
D3d/1	0 - 10cm	1.8	6.4	91.8	86.4	4.8	0.6	Sa	0
D3d/2	10 - 30cm	0.8	16.4	82.8	73.72	7.6	1.48	LmSa	0
D3d/3	30 - 45cm	3.2	18	78.8	70.6	7	1.2	LmSa	0
D3d/4	60 - 70cm	13.2	12	74.8	37.18	14.02	23.6	SaLm	0.9456

Table 14: Soil characteristics of site D10

Site	D10
Plantation	Bluelilliesbush
Soil form	Cartref 1200
Estimated Soil Depth	50 cm
Soil Profile Wilting point (Vol %)	2.0
Soil profile Field Capacity (vol %)	10.0

Sample	Depth	Clay	Silt	Total	Fine	Medium	Coarse	Classification	% Coarse
	(cm)	(%)	(%)	Sand	Sand	Sand	Sand		fragments
				(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)		
D10/1	0 - 10cm	3.40	2.40	94.20	76.12	13.28	4.80	Sa	0.00
D10/2	10 - 20cm	3.00	8.00	89.00	65.40	20.20	3.40	Sa	18.45
D10/3	20 - 50cm	3.00	9.00	88.00	60.92	21.60	5.48	Sa	6.54

Table 15: Soil characteristics of site E18

Site	E18
Plantation	Grabouw
Soil form	Cartref 1200
Estimated Soil Depth	200 cm
Soil Profile Wilting point (Vol %)	3.15
Soil Profile Field Capacity (Vol %)	8.6

Sample	Depth	Clay	Silt	Total	Fine	Medium	Coarse	Classification	% Coarse
	(cm)	(%)	(%)	Sand	Sand	Sand	Sand		fragments
				(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)		
E 18/1	0 - 10cm	2.4	0.4	97.2	55.18	23.8	18.22	Sa	0.00
E 18/2	10 - 20cm	2.2	2.2	95.6	36.2	30	29.4	Sa	0.00
E 18/3	20 - 30cm	2.2	0.2	67.6	38.16	3	26.44	Sa	0.00
E 18/4	30 - 70cm	2	2	96	22.6	23.6	49.8	Sa	17.18
E 18/5	70 - 80cm	2.2	2.2	125.6	50.96	16.64	58	Sa	39.53
E 18/6	80 - 100cm	2	1	97	30.2	16.6	50.2	Sa	50.77
E 18/7	100 - 110cm	2	1	97	32.14	21.66	43.2	Sa	47.06
E 18/8	110 - 120cm	4	8	88	52.16	28.8	7.04	LmSa	16.74
E 18/9	120 - 130cm	8	8	84	55.4	24	4.6	LmSa	8.89
E 18/10	130 - 140cm	8	8	84	49.54	31.4	3.06	LmSa	5.05
E 18/11	140 - 170cm	10	8	82	51.34	26.46	4.2	LmSa	2.64
E 18/12	170 - 180cm	10	8	82	32.12	23.08	26.8	LmSa	3.32
E 18/13	180 - 190cm	12	6	82	50.6	27.4	4	LmSa	3.93
E 18/14	190 - 200cm	8	8	84	57.2	22	4.8	LmSa	3.03

Site	F14
Plantation	Kruisfontein
Soil form	Kroonstad 2000
Estimated Soil Depth	180 cm
Soil Profile Wilting point (Vol %)	3.4
Soil profile Field Capacity (vol %)	16.7

Table 16: Soil characteristics of site F14

Sample	Depth	Clay	Silt	Total	Fine	Medium	Coarse	Classification	% Coarse
	(cm)	(%)	(%)	Sand	Sand	Sand	Sand		fragments
				(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)		
F14c/1	0 - 10cm	1	14	85	76.28	8.28	0.44	LmSa	0.1
F14c/2	10 - 50cm	5	9	86	76.32	9.48	0.2	LmSa	0.0
F14c/3	50 - 70cm	7	10.4	82.6	74	8.4	0.2	LmSa	0.1
F14c/4	70 - 80cm	10	7.4	82.6	72.8	9.6	0.2	LmSa	0.0
F14c/5	80 - 100cm	9	10	81	73.2	7.6	0.2	LmSa	0.2
F14c/6	100 - 140cm	19.2	7.8	73	65.4	7.4	0.2	SaLm	0.2
F14c/7	140 - 180cm	21	8	71	58.72	11.4	0.88	SaKILm	0.4

Table 17: Soil characteristics of site G19

Site	G19
Plantation	Kruisfontein
Soil form	Sepane 2210
Estimated Soil Depth	190 cm
Soil Profile Wilting point (Vol %)	1
Soil profile Field Capacity (vol %)	5.05

Sample	Depth	Clay	Silt	Total	Fine	Medium	Coarse	Classification	% Coarse
	(cm)	(%)	(%)	Sand	Sand	Sand	Sand		fragments
				(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)		
G19d/1	0 - 10cm	5.00	11.00	84.00	70.96	10.40	2.64	LmSa	0.00
G19d/2	10 - 50cm	7.00	12.00	81.00	65.40	12.00	3.60	LmSa	0.00
G19d/3	50 - 70cm	10.00	12.00	78.00	64.60	11.20	2.20	SaLm	0.00
G19d/4	70 - 90cm	19.00	8.00	73.00	60.80	10.00	2.20	SaLm	0.17
G19d/5	90 - 110cm	21.00	6.00	73.00	63.36	8.00	1.64	SaKILm	0.37
G19d/6	110 - 130cm	27.00	7.00	66.00	63.40	2.40	0.20	SaKILm	0.56
G19d/7	130 - 150cm	25.00	12.00	63.00	62.20	0.60	0.20	SaKILm	0.00
G19d/8	150 - 170cm	17.00	10.00	73.00	63.34	9.00	0.66	SaLm	0.00
G19d/9	170 - 190cm	3.20	24.80	72.00	67.20	4.20	0.60	LmSa	0.00

Table 18: Soil characteristics of site G36

Site	G36
Plantation	Grabouw
Soil form	Bainsvlei 1100
Estimated Soil Depth	45cm
Soil Profile Wilting point (Vol %)	8.4
Soil profile Field Capacity (vol %)	24.8

Sample	Depth	Clay	Silt	Total	Fine	Medium	Coarse	Classification	% Coarse
	(cm)	(%)	(%)	Sand	Sand	Sand	Sand		fragments
				(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)		
G 36/1	0-10cm	8	26	66	61.94	1.46	2.6	LmSa	5.394605
G 36/2	10- 20cm	18	26	56	47.56	4.44	4	SaLm	2.638191
G 36/3	20 - 40cm	24	28	48	42.6	0.8	4.6	SaKILm	40.6071



Appendix C






















































































Appendix D

Correlation of ring and fibre properties with annual ETa/ETp. The regression function and R^2 are displayed in the graphs.
















